IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

SUPREME COURT NO. 18-1050

ALEX WAYNE WESTRA,
Petitioner-Appellant,

vs.

IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,
MOTOR VEHICLE DIVISION
Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT
OF POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ARTHUR GAMBLE

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF
AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

MATTHEW T. LINDHOLM
GOURLEY, REHKEMPER, & LINDHOLM, P.L.C.
440 Fairway Drive, Suite 210
West Des Moines, IA 50266
Telephone: (515) 226-0500
Facsimile: (515) 244-2914
E-Mail: mtlindholm@grllaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF FILING

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION OFFICER AUSTIN WILSON VIOLATED MR. WESTRAS RIGHTS UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 8 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION BY EXCEEDING THE SCOPE OF HIS LEGAL AUTHORITY TO STOP MR. WESTRA'S VEHICLE FOR A TRAFFIC VIOLATION WHICH WAS UNRELATED TO THE SIZE, WEIGHT, AND LOAD OF MOTOR VEHICLES.**

Legal Authority

Iowa Cases

Bergeson v. Persch, 117 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 1962)
Branderhorst v. Iowa State Highway Commission, 202 N.W.2d 38 (Iowa 1972)
Merchant's Motor Freight v. State Highway Comm'n, 32 N.W.2d 773 (Iowa 1948)
Midwest Auto. III, LLC v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 646 N.W.2d 417 (Iowa 2002)
Peterson v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 508 N.W.2d 689 (Iowa 1993)
Rife v. D.T. Corner, 641 N.W.2d 761 (Iowa 2002)
Soo Line Railroad v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 521 N.W.2d (Iowa 1994)
State v. A-1 Disposal, 415 N.W.2d 595 (1987)
State v. Lloyd, 513 N.W.2d 742 (Iowa 1994)

Statutes and Constitutions

Article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution
Iowa Code Section 80.6
Iowa Code Section 321.2
Iowa Code Section 321.476
Iowa Code Section 321.477
Iowa Code Section 321J.6
Iowa Code Section 718.2
Iowa Code Section 804.9

II. THE EXCLUSIONARY RULE UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 8 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION SHOULD HAVE BEEN APPLIED IN THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS WHEN MR. WESTRA CHALLENGED HIS LICENSE SUSPENSION RESULTING FROM THE ILLEGAL SEIZURE.

Legal Authority

U.S. Supreme Court Cases

Immigration and Naturalization Service v. Lopez-Mendoza, 468 U.S. 1032 (1984)

Iowa Cases

Brownsberger v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 460 N.W.2d 449 (1990)

Didonato v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 456 N.W.2d 367 (Iowa 1990)

Fuller v. Dept. of Transp., 275 N.W.2d 410 (Iowa 1979)

In the Matter of Property Seized from Sharon Kay Flowers, 474 N.W.2d 546 (Iowa 1991)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Brooks, 888 N.W.2d 406 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Gaskins, 866 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Sheridan, 96 N.W.730 (Iowa 1903)

State v. Taeger, 781 N.W.2d 560 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Westendorf, 400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987)

Out of State Cases

Florida Dept. of Highway Safety v. Hernandez, 74 So. 3d 1070 (Fla. 2011)

People v. Krueger, 567 N.E.2d 717 (Ill. 1991)

Pooler v. Motor Vehicles Division, 755 P.2d 701 (Or. 1988)

State v. Lussier, 757 A.2d 1017 (Vt. 2000)

Watford v. Bureau of Motor Vehicles, 674 N.E.2d 776 (Oh. 1996)

Statutes and Constitutions

Article 1, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution

Iowa Code Section 321J.13

Iowa Code Section 804.20

III. SUBSTANTIVE AND PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS PROTECTIONS UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 9 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION WOULD BE VIOLATED IF MR. WESTRA IS NOT ALLOWED TO CHALLENGE THE LEGALITY OF THE STOP AT THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING.

Legal Authority

U.S. Supreme Court Cases

Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535 (1971)

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976)

Reno v. Flores, 507 U.S. 292 (1993)

United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739 (1987)

Iowa Cases

Bowers v. Polk County Bd. of Supervisors, 638 N.W.2d 682 (Iowa 2002)

Gilchrist v. Bierring, 234 Iowa, 899, 914, 14 N.W.2d 724, (Iowa 1944)

Hensler v. City of Davenport, 790 N.W.2d 569 (Iowa 2010)

Krueger v. Fulton, 169 N.W.2d 875 (Iowa 1969)

State v. Hernandez-Lopez, 639 N.W.2d 225, (Iowa 2002)

State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Reiner, 628 N.W.2d 460 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Schlemme, 301 N.W.2d 721 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Taeger, 781 N.W.2d 560 (Iowa 2010)

Zaber v. City of Dubuque, 789 N.W.2d 634, 640 (Iowa 2010)

Statutes and Constitutions

Article 1, section 9 of the Iowa Constitution

Iowa Code Section 321J.13

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

Mr. Westra challenges the district court's denial of his petition for judicial review seeking to rescind a driver's license suspension for a breath test refusal under Iowa's implied consent law. Mr. Westra initially challenged the authority of the DOT to suspend his license through an administrative hearing alleging that the DOT officer lacked legal authority to stop his vehicle and seeking to have the exclusionary rule applied in those proceedings pursuant to Article 1, Sections 8 and 9 of the Iowa Constitution. Mr. Westra exhausted his administrative remedies and subsequently filed a petition for judicial review in which the court concluded that (1) the DOT officer lacked the legal authority to stop his vehicle but (2) Mr. Westra was without a statutory or constitutional recourse to rescind his license revocation stemming from that illegal seizure. Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review; App. 373. This appeal is a challenge to the district court's conclusions.

Statement of Facts

On May 9, 2017, Iowa Department of Transportation ("IDOT") Officer Wilson executed a traffic stop on Alex Westra in, Jasper County, Iowa while Mr.

Westra was operating a non-commercial vehicle. DOT Tran. P. 6, 7, 12¹; Rec P. 97; App. 107, 108, 113; 101. At the time of the stop, Officer Wilson was employed by the IDOT, wearing his uniform, displaying his badge, and utilizing his State of Iowa vehicle with flashing lights. DOT Hearing Tr. P. 6,7; App. 107, 108. Officer Wilson saw what he thought to be Mr. Westra's vehicle stopped on the traveled portion of the roadway near a turnaround connecting the opposite lanes of traffic on Interstate 80. DOT Tr. P. 9-11; App. 110-112. At the time he effectuated the stop he was acting as a Motor Vehicle Enforcement Officer and not as a citizen. DOT Tr. P. 11; App. 112. Once Officer Wilson began to slow down, Mr. Westra's vehicle continued past the turnaround and Officer Wilson used the turn-around to get behind Mr. Westra and activated his red and blue lights to effectuate a traffic stop for a violation of Iowa Code Section 321.354. DOT Tr. P. 9-11; App. 110-112.

Mr. Westra was eventually investigated and arrested for OWI and open container stemming from the stop of his vehicle. The implied consent proceedings were invoked and Mr. Westra refused to provide a specimen of his breath for chemical testing and the Department implemented driver's license suspension proceedings pursuant to Iowa Code Section 321J.9. Rec. P. 97; App. 101.

¹ The transcript from the DOT hearing testimony is included in the certified record and begins on page 98 but no other pages of that transcript appear to be numbered as part of the record. Thus, references to the DOT Transcript will be indicated as "DOT Tr." All other references will be referenced from the certified record as "Rec. P" or as a pleading in an effort to avoid confusion.

Mr. Westra requested an administrative hearing to challenge the suspension of his driver's license. Rec. P. 94-95; App. 98-99. During the administrative hearing Mr. Westra argued that the license suspension should be rescinded because IDOT officer Wilson lacked statutory authority to stop his vehicle and therefore he should be allowed to challenge the lawfulness of the stop under Article 1, Sections 8 and 9 of the Iowa Constitution. DOT Tr. P. 18-20; Rec. P. P. 5-58; App. 119-121; 9-62. These arguments continue to be the basis of this appeal.

Administrative Law Judge Martin Francis issued a proposed decision which upheld the revocation concluding that IDOT Officer Wilson was a "peace officer" and/or a "law enforcement officer" as defined in Iowa Code Section 321J.8(3)² and 80B.3(3) and therefore was acting within this authority. Rec. P. 72-77; App. 76-81. Mr. Westra filed a request for further review with the Director of Driver services and submitted a second brief in support of his position. Rec. P. 63-65; App. 67-69; Rec. P. 5-58; App. 9-62. The Director of Driver services was doubtful that Mr. Westra could even challenge the stop of the vehicle because there is no "exclusionary rule" in administrative license suspension proceedings but nonetheless determined that IDOT Officer Wilson "had the statutory authority to invoke the provisions of chapter 321J and proceed accordingly." Rec. P. 3-4; App. 7-8.

² ALJ Francis concluded that the applicable Iowa Code Section for the definition of "peace officer" was 321J.8(3) however the undersigned believes that ALJ inadvertently cited the wrong codes section which should have been 321J.1(8)(e).

After having exhausted his administrative remedies to have his driver's license rescinded, Mr. Westra subsequently filed a petition for judicial review with the district court asking that the decision of the Department be overturned. Petition for Judicial Review; App. 137-178. After briefing, the court found that the DOT officer lacked statutory authority to stop Mr. Westra's vehicle but concluded that he was without recourse to have the revocation rescinded. Judicial Review Ruling P. 6-15; App. 378-387. As it related to the request to have the exclusionary rule applied under the Iowa Constitution, the court found that although "Westra presents a persuasive argument in support of extending the exclusionary rule to license revocation proceedings under the Iowa Constitution," the court found that it was bound by the holding in *State v. Westendorf*, 400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987). Judicial Review Ruling P. 10-11; App. 382-383. The court further concluded that neither substantive nor procedural due process would be violated if Mr. Westra was not provided an avenue to rectify his driver's license suspension based upon the unlawful stop. Judicial Review Ruling P. 11-14; App. 383-386. Mr. Westra subsequently filed this appeal challenging the district court's conclusions. Notice of Appeal; App. 389-390.

Routing Statement

Retention of this case by the Iowa Supreme Court is appropriate because the case presents a substantial issue of first impression to determine whether the

exclusionary rule under the Iowa Constitution should be applied to administrative driver's license suspension proceedings and whether failure to do so violates due process under the Iowa Constitution. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c).

Preservation of Error

Each of Mr. Westra's arguments raised below were raised and ruled upon in the Judicial Review Proceedings. Brief in Support of Judicial Review; Ruling on Petition for Judicial Review; App. 254-275; 373-388. This is sufficient to have preserved error on these arguments. *Lamasters v. State*, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012) ("if the court's ruling indicates that the court considered the issue and necessarily ruled on it, even if the court's reasoning is 'incomplete or sparse,' the issue has been preserved.")

Standard of Review

Mr. Westra has alleged that the DOT officer was without statutory authority to stop his vehicle and to this extent the standard of review is for corrections of errors at law. *Greenwood Manor v. Iowa Dep't of Pub. Health*, 641 N.W.2d 823, 830 (Iowa 2002). However, when constitutional issues are raised in an administrative proceeding, the court "must make an independent evaluation of the totality of the evidence and review is de novo." *Simonson v. Iowa State University*, 603 N.W.2d 557, 561 (Iowa 1999). As such, the issue of whether the officer was statutorily

justified in stopping Mr. Westra's vehicle is for correction of errors and the issue of whether Mr. Westra's constitutional rights were violated is de novo.

Legal Argument

Before diving into the statutory authority of the DOT officer to stop Mr. Westra and the subsequent application of any Iowa Constitutional Protections involved, it is important understand the current limitations on Mr. Westra to challenge his license suspension. Iowa Code Section 321J.13(2-5) provides for an administrative hearing to contest the revocation however, the grounds for contesting that revocation are limited to whether, (1) the officer had reasonable ground to believe the offense of operating while intoxicated had occurred, (2) whether the person refused the test, (3) whether the test indicated a level prohibited by law, and (4) whether the tests indicated the presence of controlled substances or a combination of alcohol and controlled substances. Iowa Code Section 321J.13(2)(a-c).

Historically, the Court has not allowed constitutional challenges to the stop of a persons' vehicle under the Fourth Amendment in these proceedings. See *Westendorf v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987); *Manders v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 454 N.W.2d 364 (Iowa 1990). However, challenges outside the specific scope of the statute have been allowed. See *Didonato v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 456 N.W.2d 367 (Iowa 1990) citing *Fuller v. Dept. of Transp.*, 275 N.W.2d

410 (Iowa 1979) (allowing driver's to contest driver's license revocations pursuant to Iowa Code Section 804.20 in the administrative context).

As Mr. Westra contends, the problem with this statutory scheme is that a licensed driver is not able to challenge the stop of his motor vehicle to rectify the loss of a drivers license as the result of being illegally stopped. Therefore, unless this Court provides that a license holder is allowed to challenge a driver's license suspension on Iowa Constitutional grounds at the administrative level, Mr. Westra and future individuals similarly situation will find themselves without a recourse for rectifying a license suspension resulting from violations of their Iowa Constitutional rights.

I. IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION OFFICER AUSTIN WILSON VIOLATED MR. WESTRA'S RIGHTS UNDER ARTICLE 1, SECTION 8 OF THE IOWA CONSTITUTION BY EXCEEDING THE SCOPE OF HIS LEGAL AUTHORITY TO STOP MR. WESTRA'S VEHICLE FOR A TRAFFIC VIOLATION WHICH WAS UNRELATED TO THE SIZE, WEIGHT, AND LOAD OF MOTOR VEHICLES.³

Administrative Agencies and their employees do “not possess common law or inherent powers, but only those which are conferred by statute.” *Branderhorst v.*

³ The undersigned is cognizant of the fact that a similar issue was submitted to the Iowa Supreme Court for consideration in the case of *Rickie Rilea and Timothy Rilea v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 17-1803 on September 12, 2018, and the Court's ruling in that case may have some bearing on the outcome of this case. However, it is important to note that the Department failed to preserve error on the citizens arrest doctrine argument in the present case as more fully discussed below.

Iowa State Highway Commission, 202 N.W.2d 38, 41 (Iowa 1972). The Department of Transportation is an administrative agency whose only powers are those granted by the legislature. *Bergeson v. Persch*, 117 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 1962). Officer Wilson was employed by the DOT at the time he stopped Mr. Westra and therefore was limited in his authority through the legislature.

A. Officer Wilson Did Not Have Statutory Authority to Act.

Delegation of DOT powers are found in Iowa Code Section 321.2. This code section provides “*except as otherwise provided by law*, the state department of transportation shall administer and enforce the provisions of this chapter.” Iowa Code Section 321.2(1). Emphasis Added. It further provides that “the division of the state patrol of the department of public safety shall enforce the provisions of this chapter relating to traffic on the public highways of the state, including those relating to the safe and legal operation of passenger cars, motorcycles, motor trucks and buses, and see that proper safety rules are observed.” Iowa Code Section 321.2(2). Finally, it provides that “the state department of transportation and the department of public safety shall cooperate to insure the proper and adequate enforcement of the provisions of this chapter.” Iowa Code Section 321.2(3). Thus, it appears that the Iowa Department of Transportation and the Iowa State Patrol as a division of the Iowa Department of Public Safety are the two agencies tasked with enforcing Iowa

Chapter 321. However, the authority of the Iowa Department of Transportation is limited “as otherwise provided by law” whereas the Iowa State Patrol’s is not.

The “as otherwise provided by law” statutes which limit the power of DOT officer are found in Iowa Code Sections 321.476 and 321.477.

Prior to May 11, 2017, Iowa Code Section 321.477 provided:

The Department **may designate by resolution** certain of its employees upon each of whom there is hereby conferred the authority of peace officer to control and direct traffic and **weigh vehicles, and to make arrests for violations of the motor vehicles laws relating to the operating authority, registrations, size, weight and load of motor vehicles and trailers and registration of a motor carrier’s interstate transportation service with the department.** Emphasis Added.

Presumably in light of the recent court rulings finding the DOT’s authority was limited to enforcing statutes relating to operating authority, registrations, size, weight and load, the Iowa legislature amended Iowa Code Section 321.477. *See* 2017 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 149 (H.F.463); Rec. P. 14-17. Notably, the legislature granted the DOT the authority to “enforce all laws of the state” and providing them “the same powers conferred by law on peace officers for the enforcement of all laws of this state and the apprehension of violators.” *Id.* The problem with these legislative changes is that they took effect on May 11, 2017, two days **AFTER** Mr. Westra was stopped by Officer Wilson. *See* 2017 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 149 (H.F.463); Rec. P. 14-17.

Nevertheless, this is a significant and material change in the law which suggests (1) that prior to this amendment DOT officers did not have authority to enforce laws unrelated to “operating authority, registrations, size, weight and load” and (2) DOT officers had not been granted the same powers conferred by law on other peace officers. See *Midwest Auto. III, LLC v. Iowa Dep’t of Transp.*, 646 N.W.2d 417, 425 (Iowa 2002) (holding that a material modification of the language of a statute gives rise to “a presumption that a change in the law was intended”). This presumption is enhanced “when the amendment follows a contrary...judicial interpretation of an unambiguous statute.” *Id.*

Iowa Code Section 321.476 further limits the powers of IDOT officers by providing that:

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