IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 18-1050

**ALEX WAYNE WESTRA
Plaintiff-Appellant,**

vs.

**IOWA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION
MOTOR VEHICLE DIVISION
Defendant-Appellee.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT
COURT FOR POLK COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ARTHUR E. GAMBLE, JUDGE**

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

**THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa**

**ROBIN G. FORMAKER
Assistant Attorney General
Iowa Attorney General's Office
800 Lincoln Way, Ames, Iowa 50010
(515) 239-1465 / FAX (515) 239-1609
robin.formaker@iowadot.us**

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

- D. No “fundamental right” is at issue. There was no lack of substantive or procedural due process. A rational basis supports Iowa’s practice and Westra had an evidentiary hearing with a stay of his revocation while he challenged the revocation before DOT.**

Cases:

State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2000)

Statutes and Other Authorities:

United States Constitution, Fifth Amendment
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment
Iowa Constitution, Article I, section 9

- (1) No “fundamental right” and no violation of substantive due process.**

Cases:

Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 91 S.Ct. 1586, 29 L.Ed.2d 90 (1971)
Gilchrist v. Bierring, 234 Iowa 899, 14 N.W.2d 724 (1944)
Horsfield Materials v. City of Dyersville, 834 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2013)
Scheckel v. State, 838 N.W.2d 870 (Table), 2013 WL 4504919
(Iowa App. 2013)
State v. Hines, 478 N.W.2d 888 (Iowa App. 1991)
State v. Klawonn, 609 N.W.2d 515 (Iowa 2000)
State v. Miner, 331 N.W.2d 683 (Iowa 1983)
State v. Pettijohn, 899 N.W.2d 1 (Iowa 2017)
State v. Vogel, 548 N.W.2d 584 (Iowa 1996)
Welch v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., 801 N.W.2d 590 (Iowa 2011)
Westendorf v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., Motor Vehicle Division,
400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987)
Wright v. Iowa Dept. of Corrections, 747 N.W.2d 213 (Iowa 2008)

Statutes and Other Authorities:

Iowa Code ch. 321J

Iowa Code § 321J.2

Iowa Code § 321J.2A

Iowa Code § 321J.13(2)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)(a)(b)(1)-(2)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)(b)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)(b)(1)-(2)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)(c)

Iowa Code § 321J.20

Iowa Constitution, Article I, section 9

2018 Iowa Acts ch. 1110 §§ 8-9

Recent Decreases in the Proportion of Persons with a Driver's License across All Age Groups, Michael Sivak and Brandon Schoettle, The University of Michigan Transportation Research Institute, January 2016

- (2) Westra had an evidentiary hearing. There was no procedural due process violation.**

Cases:

Bell v. Burson, 402 U.S. 535, 91 S.Ct. 1586, 29 L.Ed.2d 90 (1971)

Bowers v. Polk County Board of Supervisors, 638 N.W.2d 682 (Iowa 2002)

Dixon v. Love, 431 U.S. 105, 97 S.Ct. 1723, 52 L.Ed.2d 172 (1977)

Horsfield Materials v. City of Dyersville, 834 N.W.2d 444 (Iowa 2013)

Lewis v. Jaeger, 818 N.W.2d 165 (Iowa 2012)

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 (1976)

State v. Knous, 313 N.W.2d 510 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Owens, 418 N.W.2d 340 (Iowa 1988)

Westendorf v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., Motor Vehicle Division, 400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987)

Statutes and Other Authorities:

Iowa Code § 321J.2

Iowa Code § 321J.6(1)(c)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(2)

Iowa Code § 321J.13(6)
Iowa Constitution, Article I, section 9

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case should be transferred to the Iowa Court of Appeals. The issue presented is not “substantial” because this case can be readily resolved through application of existing legal principles. See Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3)(a). Though Westra contends his case presents a substantial issue of first impression because of his reliance upon the Iowa Constitution, his claim, seeking the creation of a more far-reaching exclusionary rule in driver’s license revocation hearings beyond what has been conferred by statute, is sufficiently like prior Iowa cases rejecting the contention based upon similar federal constitutional provisions. See *Westendorf v. Iowa Dept. of Transp., Motor Vehicle Division*, 400 N.W.2d 553 (Iowa 1987) (rejecting exclusionary rule in license revocation hearings). Indeed, in *Swanson v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 780 N.W.2d 249 (Table), 2010 WL 446994, *3 (Iowa App. 2010), the Iowa Court of Appeals held:

Swanson also argues that the initial stop was unreasonable. The DOT argues, citing *Westendorf*, that the exclusionary rule does not apply in this license revocation proceeding and that Swanson’s argument regarding reasonableness of the stop is therefore irrelevant. We agree.

The district court rightly noted the dearth of Iowa authority supporting extension of an exclusionary rule into civil driver’s license revocation proceedings beyond what the legislature has already conferred through Iowa

Code section 321J.13(6). Ruling, pp. 8-11; Appendix (App.) pp. 380-383. The district court correctly concluded Iowa’s search-and-seizure provision did not alter the analysis in *Westendorf*.

Similarly, the district court properly applied rational basis scrutiny in rejecting Westra’s substantive due process claim under the Iowa Constitution. Ruling, pp. 11-13, App. pp. 383-385. In addition, the district court justifiably applied the rationale of *Westendorf*, and its progeny, in rejecting Westra’s procedural due process claims noting the analysis under Iowa’s Constitution “essentially matches” what was espoused by the *Westendorf* Court. Ruling, p. 14; App. p. 386.

Westra’s attempt to stay the revocation of his driving privileges was denied by order of the Supreme Court entered July 9, 2018. Though not dispositive of this appeal, the Court’s action in denying Westra’s stay request is consistent with the conclusion Westra’s claim did not present a substantial likelihood of prevailing on the merits. *See, e.g.*, Iowa Code § 17A.19(5)(c)(1) (among criteria considered when a stay of agency action is sought is the extent “to which the applicant is likely to prevail when the court finally disposes of the matter”); *see also Teleconnect Co. v. Iowa State Commerce Commission*, 366 N.W.2d 511, 513 (Iowa 1985) (likelihood of

prevailing on the merits by the party seeking the stay a criterion in determining whether agency action will be stayed).

Therefore, this case should not be retained by the Supreme Court. It should go to the Iowa Court of Appeals. Existing case precedent affords a sufficient guidepost for its resolution.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case. This appeal concerns whether Westra’s driving privileges were properly revoked because of his refusal to submit to chemical testing under Iowa Code chapter 321J, Iowa’s implied consent law. Agency record, pp. 67, 97; App. pp. 71, 101.¹

¹A certified agency record was submitted in this matter on November 8, 2017. It consisted of 98 pages which were Bates-stamped in the lower right-hand corner of the page, plus a transcript of the administrative hearing before the administrative law judge which has separate pagination. Bates-stamped page 98 is the first page of the transcript of the administrative hearing, but the transcript is then separately numbered at the upper right-hand corner of each page, beginning with page number 1 through page number 35. That transcript was prepared by Petersen Court Reporters from an audio recording. DOT, in referencing the certified agency record *other than the transcript*, will cite “Agency record” followed by the Bates-stamped page number appearing in the lower right-hand corner of those pages. DOT, in referring to the transcript of the administrative hearing, will reference the transcript by referring to “DOT Tr.” followed by the page number accorded by Petersen Court Reporters in the upper right-hand corner of the page of the transcript Petersen prepared.

Course of Proceedings and Disposition of Case in District Court.

Westra's petition for judicial review was filed October 19, 2017. The case reached the district court following administrative proceedings conducted before the Iowa Department of Transportation (DOT) pursuant to Iowa Code chapter 17A. Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Martin H. Francis sustained DOT's revocation of Mr. Westra's driving privileges for a period of one year because of Mr. Westra's refusal to provide a breath specimen. *See* ALJ ruling dated August 15, 2017; Agency record, pp. 72-77; App. pp. 76-81.

Mr. Westra appealed ALJ Francis's decision to DOT's reviewing officer, Mr. Mike Raab. On September 21, 2017, Mr. Raab issued DOT's final decision regarding Mr. Westra's challenge of his revocation. Mr. Raab concluded the decision of ALJ Francis was supported by the record, and he affirmed DOT's action in revoking Mr. Westra's driving privileges. *See* Raab ruling; Agency record, pp. 3-4; App. pp. 7-8.

Following submission of trial court briefs and oral argument on March 8, 2017, The Honorable Arthur E. Gamble, Chief Judge of the Fifth Judicial District, issued on May 17, 2018, a ruling affirming DOT's revocation of Westra's driving privileges. Ruling; App. pp. 373-388.

Thereafter, on June 15, 2018, Mr. Westra filed this appeal. Notice of Appeal; App. p. 389-390.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The motor vehicle Mr. Westra was driving was stopped by DOT peace officer, Austin Wilson, shortly after midnight on May 9, 2017. DOT Tr. 6-7; App. pp. 107-108. Officer Wilson had observed Westra's vehicle improperly stopped in the traveled portion of an interstate highway. DOT Tr. pp. 9-10; 20-21; App. pp. 110-111; 121-122. After encountering Mr. Westra at the driver's side of the vehicle, Officer Wilson observed an open alcoholic beverage container sitting behind the passenger seat but within reach of Mr. Westra. DOT Tr. p. 21. App. p. 122. In addition, Officer Wilson noticed Mr. Westra had bloodshot, watery eyes, a possible sign of intoxication. DOT Tr. p. 13. App. p. 114.

Westra refused to submit to a preliminary breath test (PBT). DOT Tr. p. 13. App. p. 114. He was completely uncooperative. He refused to hand over the alcoholic beverage container to the officer when requested to do so. DOT Tr. p. 22. App. p. 123. Officer Wilson had requested Mr. Westra show him the container, so he could verify whether it contained alcohol. Mr. Westra reported the container was empty. DOT Tr. pp. 21-22. App. pp.

122-123. Officer Wilson then asked Mr. Westra to exit the vehicle, but he refused. DOT Tr. p. 22; App. p. 123.

Officer Wilson called another officer for assistance in removing Westra from the vehicle. DOT Tr. pp. 23-24. App. pp. 124-125. After the other officer arrived, the two officers removed Mr. Westra. DOT Tr. pp. 24-25; App. pp. 125-126. The backup officer detected the odor of an alcoholic beverage coming from Mr. Westra's vehicle. DOT Tr. p. 23. App. p. 124. The officers discovered the alcoholic beverage container in Westra's vehicle was about a quarter full, notwithstanding Mr. Westra's prior claim it was empty. DOT Tr. p. 24; App. p. 125.

Mr. Westra, once removed from his vehicle, was again asked to submit to a PBT, but he again refused. DOT Tr. p. 25. App. p. 126. Westra was taken to the Jasper County jail where the DataMaster machine for testing breath specimens was located. DOT Tr. p. 15. App. p. 116. DOT Officer Wilson is a certified peace officer and certified to perform implied consent procedures. DOT Tr. p. 20. App. p. 121. The implied consent process was invoked with the requisite advisory given to Mr. Westra. DOT Tr. p. 8. App. p. 109. Westra was asked to provide a breath specimen, but he refused. DOT Tr. pp. 8-9; Agency record p. 97; App. pp. 109-110; 101. DOT, because of Mr. Westra's refusal, ordered as provided by law a one-

year license revocation of Mr. Westra's privileges to drive. Agency record, p. 67; App. p. 71.

I.

THE PUBLIC'S NEED TO COMBAT THE HOLOCAUST ON OUR ROADWAYS WHICH IS A BY-PRODUCT OF DRUNK DRIVING OUTWEIGHS ANY OTHER CONSIDERATION IN A DRIVER'S LICENSE REVOCATION MATTER HANDLED BEFORE AN ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE UNDER IOWA CODE CHAPTER 321J. THE DETERMINATION WHETHER THE REVOCATION WILL BE UPHELD IS BASED UPON ALL THE EVIDENCE OFFERED AT THE AGENCY HEARING, EVEN EVIDENCE OBTAINED THROUGH AN UNAUTHORIZED STOP.

A. Error preservation, scope of review and standard of review.

Westra offers only one basis for challenging DOT's revocation of his driving privileges: the legality of the stop of his vehicle. Otherwise, Westra effectively concedes there were reasonable grounds to invoke implied consent. Nor does he dispute the DOT peace officer's authority to administer the implied consent law by requesting a breath specimen which Westra refused to supply. This was noted by the district court as well. Ruling, p. 6; App. p. 378. DOT, upon review of the district court's ruling, believes Westra preserved error on his claim he should have been afforded the right to challenge the validity of the stop in the license revocation proceedings before ALJ Francis.

Westra's challenge raises a legal question. Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed for errors of law. *State v. Stoneking*, 379 N.W.2d 352, 353-54 (Iowa 1985). When constitutional issues are raised, those questions are determined de novo on appeal. *See, e.g., State v. Naujoks*, 637 N.W.2d 101, 106 (Iowa 2001).

B. Officer Wilson's status as a DOT officer and authority to stop.

Westra's first division of his brief is devoted to his assertion DOT Officer Wilson lacked authority to stop his vehicle because the reason for the stop was unrelated to operating authority, registration, size, weight and load. On October 19, 2018, the Iowa Supreme Court issued decisions in *Rilea v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 919 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa 2018), and *State v. State v. Werner*, 919 N.W.2d 375 (Iowa 2018). Those decisions held DOT peace officers lacked authority to engage in general traffic enforcement under Iowa Code chapter 321, and further held on-duty DOT officers cannot make citizen's arrests under Iowa Code section 804.9.

Rilea and *Werner* applied the law in effect prior to May 11, 2017. Effective May 11, 2017, DOT's peace officers, with certain exceptions, have "the same powers conferred by law on peace officers for the enforcement of all laws of this state and the apprehension of violators." Iowa Code § 321.477(1) (2018); *see also* 2017 Iowa Acts ch. 149 §§ 1-5. The 2017

amendment contained a sunset provision which terminated its effect on July 1, 2018, but the legislature during the 2018 session extended the term of the sunset to July 1, 2019. *See* 2018 Iowa Acts ch. 1170, div. II, § 3. Westra’s incident, which occurred May 9, 2017, is not controlled by the amendment to section 321.477 (2017) which did not go into effect until May 11, 2017.

Officer Wilson was a peace officer pursuant to Iowa Code section 801.4(11)(h), and he was certified to perform implied consent. Thus, his training also qualified him as a “Peace officer” within the meaning of Iowa Code section 321J.1(8)(e) (“Peace officer” defined for purposes of chapter 321J). The Court in *Rilea* held properly trained DOT officers “can enforce chapter 321J” and may “make OWI arrests.” *Rilea*, 919 N.W.2d at 392. Therefore, given Officer Wilson’s separate authority under Iowa Code chapter 321J, DOT invites this Court to affirm Judge Gamble on this alternative ground which was urged before the district court. *See* DOT’s brief in district court, filed February 14, 2018, pp. 68-71; App. pp. 350-353.

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